# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-6-2011

# Arambarri v. Armstrong Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38351

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I.

Delivery of services by the Idaho Department of Health and Welfare, to those in need, is a complicated and sometimes confusing task. To make that task more efficient, the Idaho Legislature has required the Department of Health and Welfare to have a strong local presence in the community. Whether it is dealing with ensuring that mothers get their child support, or ensuring that low income families get proper medical services, the delivery of those services was determined to the best accomplished at the local level.

In 1974 the Idaho State Legislature created the Department of Health and Welfare consolidating multiple state agencies to form a single state agency with a decentralized administrative structure, providing for local involvement for the planning, evaluation and coordination of services. The statute and subsequent action by the Governor created seven regions for Health and Welfare, each headed by a local, Regional Director.

On April 24, 2009, the Director of the Department of Health and Welfare, Richard Armstrong, ignored the law requiring the Department provide access to services for the people of the State of Idaho, by abolishing four Regional Director positions. On that day, contrary to the clear requirements of the law, the Director eliminated four Regional Director positions and consolidated the seven Regional Directors into three central administrators. This action was illegal and this suit resulted.

#### **COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION**

Plaintiff filed a tort claim with the State of Idaho on June 12, 2009, which claim was denied on September 18, 2009. Thereafter Plaintiff filed this Complaint on January 27, 2010. The parties engaged in substantial discovery, mostly concerning the legislative history of certain laws creating the Department of Health and Welfare and the Regional Director positions.

Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment on August 2, 2010. On September 15, 2010, Defendant filed their Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss/Motion for Summary Judgment which is part of the Clerk's record herein. On September 29, 2010 Appellant received a copy of Defendant's Reply to Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss/Motion for Summary Judgment and on the same day, Appellant filed their Objection to Respondent's Reply Brief. All motions were heard by the Court on September 30, 2010, and the Court issued it's Memorandum Decision and Order on November 12, 2010, granting summary judgment in the favor of the Respondent. Plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal on December 2, 2010.

#### III.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 1973 the Idaho Legislature passed House Bill No. 187, creating the Department of Health and Welfare. That law set up the infrastructure for the Department.

After the Legislature passed this legislation Governor Cecil Andrus appointed Dr. James Bax the director of the new agency and designated seven regions based on the geographic and economic

<u>Appellant's Brief</u>

convenience of the citizens of the state. Dr. Bax appointed seven Regional Directors with the concurrence of the Health and Welfare Board. The department was then organized around these regional administrative units.

On April 24, 2009, the Director of the Department of Health and Welfare, Defendant in this case, abolished the position of the Regional Director of District 6, and three other Regional Director positions. Nick Arambarri had been employed with the Department and had been the Regional Director for Region 6 for 19 years. This action of abolishing the position of the Regional Director was taken by the Director of the Department without any authority from either the Legislature or the Governor, and contrary to the law which created the Department and those Regional Director positions. Only the Governor could modify the system of seven Regional Directors. Furthermore, neither the Governor nor the Director of the Department could modify the law and eliminate Regional Director positions. That could only be done by the Legislature.

Thereafter the Director of Health and Welfare informed the Board of Health and Welfare that he had eliminated those Regional Director positions and consolidated the seven Regional Directors into three Administrators.

This suit resulted.

The position of Regional Director of Region 6, was created by the Legislature and Governor Andrus and it is not within the power of the Director of the Department of Health and Welfare to abolish that position. The Legislature did not give the Director that power. The law, and particularly the legislative history establish clearly that the Legislature required Regional *Appellant's Brief* Page 3 Directorships to be maintained in each region, headed by a single Director.

#### IV.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

A. The law creating the Department requires decentralized administration, contrary to the Court's finding;

B. Contrary to the Court's finding, the Department of Health and Welfare has failed to maintain regional administrative units as required by law.

C. Contrary to the Court's finding the Department of Health and Welfare has failed to maintain Regional Directors as heads of the regions as required by law.

D. Contrary to the Judge's decision, the law creating the Department of Health and Welfare created Regional Administrative Units, each to be headed by a local, separate Regional Director;

E. Contrary to the Court's findings, the Director of Health and Welfare did not comply with the requirement of concurrence from the Board of Health and Welfare for the decision to terminate Nick Arambarri's appointment as Regional Director.

#### V.

#### **ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL**

Plaintiff requests attorneys fees be awarded on appeal pursuant to Idaho Code §12-117 as the actions of the State were without a reasonable basis in fact or law. In addition, Plaintiff requests attorneys fees under the Private Attorney General doctrine. *Hellar v. Cenarrusa*, 106 Idaho 571, 682 P.2d 524 (1984).

Appellant's Brief

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. The Director's Abolition of the Seven Positions of Regional Director is Illegal.

The District Court found that the Director of the Department of Health and Welfare had the statutory authority to, by himself, abolish the position of Regional Director. This is a clear error of law. It is illogical that the Court would accept the Defendant's argument that there is no required number of Regional Directors.

The Regional Director positions were created by the Legislature in the organic law that created the Department of Health and Welfare. Idaho law requires a Regional Director in each of the seven regions, to be the head of the region, to be located in that region. That is a specific and clear requirement of the law establishing those Regional Director positions.

Idaho Code §56-1002 created Health and Welfare and the system of Regional Directors. Subsequently seven administrative regions were created under Idaho Code §56-1002 in 1973.

#### **B.** Legislative History

The law that created the Department of Health and Welfare created the positions of separate, individual Regional Directors, and required them to be located in the region. This law was ignored by the Director, and missed by the District Court in its decision.

The District Court below found that analysis of the issues in this suit required reference to the legislative history of the law creating Regional Directors. R.p. 169-170. When a Court engages in statutory construction, it has the duty to ascertain the legislative intent and give effect to that

intent. State v. Rhode, 133 Idaho 459, 988 P.2d 685 (1999).

"To ascertain the intent of the Legislature, not only must the literal words of the statute be examined, but also the context of those words, the public policy behind the statute, and its legislative history." *Id. at 462, 988 P.2d at 688*.

The Code involved here establishes regions as administrative units, establishes Regional

Directors to head the regions, determines that each region shall be headed by a single Regional

Director.

Idaho Code §56-1002(3) provides:

"In order to provide more effective and economical access to the state health and social services by the people of Idaho, the governor is hereby authorized to establish substate administrative regions. In the designation of these regions specific consideration shall be given to the geographic and economic convenience of the citizens included therein. Each substate administrative region shall be headed by a regional director who shall be appointed by, and serve at the pleasure of the director with the concurrence of the board."

The plain meaning of this statue is that, as it applies to this case, there is a requirement to be

a separate and distinct Regional Director for Region 6 of Health and Welfare, officed within the region, providing access to local citizens. Factually Governor Andrus created seven regions and those seven regions still exist, as required by law.

The District Court got confused concerning this argument and found that as Regional Directors serve at the pleasure of the Director with the concurrence of the Board of Health and Welfare, it was within the Director's authority to "fire" a Regional Director.

This ignores the facts of this case, and what the Director actually did. He did not terminate Nick Arambarri's employment, he abolished four Regional Director positions. The actions of the

Director have not only violated the requirement of a Regional Director to be in each region, they have taken away the Regional Directors' powers to head the region. This is established by the Affidavit of Nick Arambarri. R.p. 103-106.

The literal words of the statute provide the best guide to legislative intent and therefore the interpretation of a statute must begin with the literal words of the statute. *State v. Doe*, 147 Idaho 326, 208 P.3d 730 (2009).

Even if the state is arguing that this language is capable of more than one reasonable construction and, therefore it is ambiguous, it must be construed to mean what the Legislature intended it to mean. To determine that legislative intent, the Courts will look at the legislative history and the public policy behind the statute. *Id. at 732, Hayden Lake Fire Protection District v. Acorn*, 141 Idaho 388, 111 P.3d 73 (2005).

The legislative history was admitted in this case pursuant to Requests for Admission. For convenience, to this memorandum Appellant will quote from only the relevant portions of those documents admitted in the Requests for Admissions, to establish the point made.

An overview of the legislative history of the statutes creating the Department of Health and Welfare emphasize several items. First of all there is a strong legislative and gubernatorial preference for a decentralized administrative structure. Similarly there is a requirement for a strong local administration which includes effective and economical access to the Regional Director by the people in the region. It is emphasized in the legislative history that the law is to place the problem solving mechanism closer to the people and to give local people a role in program planning and evaluation. All of this legislative history was ignored by the District Court in its decision.

On March 6, 1973 the Idaho State Legislature passed Idaho Sessions Law Chapter 87 (H.B. No 187). This legislation provided for the "merger of the Department of Environmental Protection and Health, the Department of Social and Rehabilitation Services and the State Youth Training Center into a single state agency to be known as the Department of Environmental and Community Services. Section 2(3) authorizes the governor to establish substate administrative regions and directed the appointment of regional deputies to head each region. The regional deputies were to be "appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the administrator with the concurrence of the board."

Idaho Session Law, Chapter 86, House Bill 1114, 1973. R. p. 203.

Thus the language that is currently in the statute was in the original Bill passed establishing the Department of Health and Welfare. The original legislation creating the Department of Environmental Community Service, which in 1974 become Department of Health and Welfare, created administrative regions, to be headed by Regional Directors, those Regional Directors serve at the pleasure of the Director with the concurrence of the board. The legislative intent of this law to prescribe a <u>decentralized</u> administrative structure with strong local administrators is clear.

The Statement of Purpose states "The purpose and intent of this legislation is to improve the delivery of health, environmental, and social services to the people of Idaho. In keeping with this goal this bill proposes the integration of the department of environmental protection and health, the department of social and rehabilitative services and the state youth training center, into a single state agency. This act is directed at eliminating duplication, unnecessary spending, and disorganization.

Hence, this legislation proposes a <u>decentralization</u> of the current delivery system, thus placing the problem solving mechanisms of these three governmental units closer to the people."

The Statement of Purpose for RS566, which became House Bill 187, of the 42<sup>nd</sup> Legislature, first session, 1973 (emphasis added) R. p. 207.

The proposal to merge state agencies with common missions, to decentralize administration of the current delivery systems, and to place strong administrators in the regions close to the people was introduced to the Idaho State Legislature by Governor Cecil Andrus in his 1973 State of the State Address. As he addressed Health-Social and Rehabilitation Services in Idaho he stated "I propose that we stop appropriating millions of dollars to an antiquated social delivery system impregnated with disorganization, duplication and centralized bureaucracy. We cannot justify these programs unless the people in all parts of Idaho have access to these services. This burdensome system must be decentralized and regionalized. In summary we must trim the highly paid administrators in Boise and put the talent out in the State where the people are."

Senate Journal of the Idaho State Legislature, the 1<sup>st</sup> Reg. Sess., 42<sup>nd</sup> Legislature, January 8,1973 located in the Public Archives as ID Document L 4000.33. R. p. 208.

Thus the very person who proposed the legislation made it clear in addressing the Idaho Legislature that the purpose of what was to become Idaho Code §56-1002 was to have decentralized Regional Directors for Health and Welfare, directors located in the regions. This is what Governor Andrus envisioned and what the Legislature created.

The legislative record further supports the legislative intent of Regional Director being in
Appellant's Brief
Page 9

the regions, for each region created. Representing the Governor, Dr. John R. Marks, Commissioner of the Department of Social and Rehabilitation Services and Dr. James A, Bax Administrator of the Department of Environmental Protection and Health, testified before a joint meeting of the Senate Health, Education, and Welfare Committee and the House Health and Welfare Committee on January 16, 1973. In discussing the purpose of this legislation they explained the following as recorded on the minutes of this meeting.

"In order to do a better job of sharing responsibility, Dr. Bax said we have to have a mechanism for handling decisions across lines. We have to have a better mechanism of decentralized administration."

Minutes, joint meeting, Idaho Senate Health Education and Welfare Committee and Idaho

House Health and Welfare Committee, January 16, 1973. R. p. 213.

"Dr. Bax stated that the No.1 benefit of consolidation would be <u>improvement</u> of <u>services</u>. The No. 2 benefit will be having a <u>vehicle for decentralizing</u>—to give local people a better handle on review, on program planning and evaluation; to make what are now state programs an indigenous part of the community." *Id. At 214*.

Dr. John Marks, also testified at the hearing, and the minutes reflect his point:

"The whole essence of the reorganization here is all based on the effect of a delivery system on the people on a community level—not the effect on the bureaucracy in Boise. State offices should be merely for technical assistance, consultation, monitoring and evaluation. We can't have a bunch of people maintaining positions, or we haven't gained anything. The delivery system is at the local, regional level. Its effectiveness depends on people at that level, not people sitting in Boise." *Id.* 

"Dr. Bax stressed that we don't need all these administrators; good administrators ought to be out in the districts." *Id.* 

Once this legislation was passed, Governor Andrus appointed Dr. Bax as the Director and

Appellant's Brief

the Board was established. Governor Andrus created seven regions and seven Regional Directors were appointed and confirmed. An administrative structure was developed to implement the legislative intent of this new agency.

The administrative and organizational structure of the Department of Health and Welfare,

as it was set up under this new law is described in the official documents of the Department of

Health and Welfare, the legislative audit report of the Department of Health and Welfare. That

document explains Health and Welfare as follows:

"Overall policies and regulations for the department are set by the Board of Health and Welfare. The Board consists of seven members who are appointed by the Governor.

DWH (The Department of Health & Welfare) is headed by a Director who is appointed by the Governor and is confirmed by the Senate. The Department is organized into seven geographic regions for delivering services to Idaho's citizens. The Department also has seven divisions that are used to provide staff support. The District Health Departments operate independently but coordinate programs and activities with the Department to avoid duplication."

"The heavy black dots on the accompanying organizational chart designate members of the executive staff who meet monthly to discuss and set specific policies and procedures, to review and determine program priorities. Decisions of the Executive Staff form a framework within which the Regional Directors may independently operate their programs. The Regional Directors appoint program managers to oversee each of the regional functions shown on the organizational chart. In carrying out the programs, the regional personnel receive management and program support from the Central Office in Boise."

Legislative audit report - Department of Health and Welfare, fiscal years ending June 30, 1975,

1975, 1976. R. p. 216-219.

# C. The Director Does Not have the Authority to Abolish the Position of Regional Director.

If anything is clear from the language of the statute itself, as bolstered by the extensive legislative history, the law establishing the Department of Health and Welfare and the Regional Director's position requires a separate Regional Director, located within the Region, heading the administration for each of the Regions. This provides the decentralized administrative structure with problem solving mechanisms close to the people within the region, pursuant to the statement of purpose. Although the Director of the Department of Health and Welfare certainly has discretion in running his Department, he cannot act directly contrary to the legislation that has established that Department. That can only be done in a proper manner, by the Legislature and the Governor and it cannot be done by administrative fiat, the unilateral action of the Director.

The Department contends it still maintains seven regions, however they are not headed by separate Regional Directors located within the regions, but are centralized. Division Administrators and not the Regional Directors serve as administrative 'heads' of regional programs, services and staff. The purpose of the legislation was to <u>decentralize</u> the operation of Health and Welfare.

This law can only be read as a limit on the administrative authority of the Director of Health and Welfare. The Governor, not the Director, is authorized to establish regions. The Legislature mandated a decentralized organizational structure. The Director cannot undo this without a change in the law. The Director's appointments and terminations of Regional Directors must receive concurrence from the Board of Health and Welfare. The State, in its Motion for Summary Judgment below, argued that the three remaining Regional Directors currently serve the seven "substate" administrative regions. This is untrue. In fact the action of the Director and the Department fails to meet any reasonable interpretation of Idaho Code §56-1002, particularly (3) which creates regions. First, while the Department maintains seven regions throughout the state, these regions are no longer administrative regions. All administrative authority, direction, and control come from central office in Boise. Each region is not headed by a Regional Director.

This action is not about the Director's authority to terminate an individual assigned to be a Regional Director. It is about the Director of Health and Welfare's authority to abolish positions created by the Legislature and the Governor.

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