## Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-5-2011

## Arambarri v. Armstrong Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38351

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The Idaho Supreme Court reviews a motion for summary judgment using the same standard employed by the district court in deciding the motion. Stoddart v. Pocatello Sch. Dist. #25, 149 Idaho 679, 683, 239 P.3d 784, 788 (2010); Cherry v. Coregis Ins. Co., 146 Idaho 882, 884, 204 P.3d 522, 524 (2009); Lockheed Martin Corp. v. Idaho State Tax Comm'n, 142 Idaho 790, 793, 134 P.3d 641, 644 (2006) (citing Infanger v. City of Salmon, 137 Idaho 45, 44 P.3d 1100 (2002)). Summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). "Disputed facts should be construed in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party." Castorena v. General Elec., 149 Idaho 609, 613, 238 P.3d 209, 213 (2010). "If the evidence presented shows no disputed issues of material fact, then all that remains are questions of law, over which this Court exercises free review." State, ex rel. Wasden v. Maybee, 148 Idaho 520, 527, 224 P.3d 1109, 1116 (2010) (citing Mendenhall v. Aldous, 146 Idaho 434, 436, 196 P.3d 352, 354 (2008)); See also Martin v. Camas County ex rel. Bd. of Comm'rs, 150 Idaho 508, 511, 248 P.3d 1243, 1246 (2011).

This Court may freely review the application and meaning of Idaho Code § 56-1002(3) since this Court freely reviews questions of law. *Barmore v. Perrone*, 145 Idaho 340, 343, 179 P.3d 303, 306 (2008). Further, "[t]he interpretation of a statute is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review." *Doe v. Boy Scouts of America*, 148 Idaho 427, 430, 224 P.3d 494, 497 (2009).

The standard of review applicable to the district court's ruling pertaining to the parties' motions to strike affidavits is whether the district court abused its discretion. In making this determination, the Court has indicated it determines the following:

- (1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion;
- (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason.

Baxter v. Craney, 135 Idaho 166, 169, 16 P.3d 263, 266 (2000) (citing Sun Valley Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Idaho Power Co., 119 Idaho 87, 94, 803 P.2d 993, 1000 (1991)).

# B. ARAMBARRI, WHO WAS TERMINATED WHILE SERVING AS A NON-CLASSIFIED, AT-WILL EMPLOYEE, DOES NOT HAVE STANDING TO PURSUE A LAWSUIT CHALLENGING WHETHER DIRECTOR ARMSTRONG COMPLIED WITH IDAHO CODE § 56-1002(3).

Arambarri has asserted in his Complaint and in his brief that Director Armstrong violated Idaho Code § 56-1002 in eliminating Arambarri's position, resulting in Arambarri's termination. (R. Vol. I, p. 2, para. IV; & Appellant's Brief). However, notwithstanding this allegation, Arambarri has agreed with the fact that he was a non-classified, at-will employee, serving at the pleasure of Director Armstrong. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 22, Ll. 19-20). Arambarri has also acknowledged that Director Armstrong had the authority to terminate Arambarri's appointment as regional director with the concurrence of the Board. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 19, Ll. 7-21). Furthermore, Arambarri

conceded, during the hearing in district court, that his Complaint is not a wrongful termination lawsuit. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 22, Ll. 14, 16-17).

This Court summarized the Idaho at-will employee doctrine in *Van v. Portneuf Medical Center* as follows:

Generally, an employer may discharge an at-will employee at any time for any reason without incurring liability. However, the right to discharge an at-will employee is limited by considerations of public policy, such as when the motivation for the firing contravenes public policy. The determination of what constitutes public policy sufficient to protect an at-will employee from termination is a question of law. The public policy exception to the employment at-will doctrine has been held to protect employees who refuse to commit unlawful acts, who perform important public obligations, or who exercise certain legal rights and privileges. An employer may not discharge an at-will employee without cause when the discharge would violate public policy. Once the court defines the public policy, the question of whether the public policy was violated is one for the jury.

147 Idaho 552, 212 P.3d 982, 991 (Idaho 2009) (citations omitted). In this case, Director Armstrong cannot incur liability because there is no allegation that the termination of Arambarri violated any public policy. Also, Arambarri has corroborated that this case is not a wrongful termination case. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 22, Ll. 14, 16-17).

Ironically, a wrongful termination lawsuit is the only action he may possibly have had standing to bring against Director Armstrong. Since the Complaint does not allege Arambarri was terminated wrongfully and does not challenge Director Armstrong's authority to terminate Arambarri, the Complaint is merely challenging Director Armstrong's authority under Idaho Code § 56-1002(3) to reduce the number of regional directors assigned to the seven regions. In making this allegation, Arambarri has not demonstrated that he has standing to make this argument as an ordinary citizen.

It is unnecessary for this Court to address the substance of Arambarri's allegations in light of the fact that he lacks standing. "Standing is a preliminary question to be determined by this Court before reaching the merits of the case." *Young v. City of Ketchum*, 137 Idaho 102, 104, 44 P.3d 1157, 1159 (2002). "It is a fundamental tenet of American jurisprudence that a person wishing to invoke a court's jurisdiction must have standing." *Id.*; *Van Valkenburgh v. Citizens for Term Limits*, 135 Idaho 121, 124, 15 P.3d 1129, 1132 (2000). Standing is a jurisdictional issue involving a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. *State v. Doe*, 148 Idaho 919, 936, 231 P.3d 1016, 1033 (2010); *St. Luke's Reg. Med. Ctr. v. Bd. of Comm'rs*, 146 Idaho 753, 755, 203 P.3d 683, 685 (2009); *Taylor v. Maile*, 146 Idaho 705, 709, 201 P.3d 1282, 1286 (2009).

In determining whether Arambarri had standing, this Court focuses on his status, not on his allegations. "The doctrine of standing focuses on the party seeking relief and not on the issues the party wishes to have adjudicated." *Miles v. Idaho Power Co.*, 116 Idaho 635, 641, 778 P.2d 757, 763 (1989); See also *Young*, 137 Idaho at 104, 44 P.3d at 1159. Virtually the entire focus of Arambarri's brief is on the issue he wishes to have adjudicated, the issue of whether Idaho Code § 56-1002(3) requires a specific number of regional directors, but he does not demonstrate how he would have standing to bring this lawsuit as a terminated non-classified, at-will employee who wishes to challenge Director Armstrong's application of that statute.

Arambarri simply lacks standing in the capacity of a concerned citizen. It is well established that "a concerned citizen who seeks to ensure the government abides by the law does not have standing." *Id.* at 105, 44 P.3d at 1160. Arambarri is clearly in the shoes of a concerned citizen who is seeking to have Director Armstrong interpret Idaho Code § 56-1002(3) a particular

way. Although Director Armstrong disagrees with Arambarri's interpretation and the law supports Director Armstrong's interpretation, it is not necessary for this Court to address the merits of Director Armstrong's interpretation versus Arambarri's desired interpretation. In Arambarri's role as a concerned citizen who is forwarding a particular interpretation of the statute, he clearly does not have standing to require this Court to cause Director Armstrong to interpret the statute differently.

Simply put, Arambarri is not in a position to seek relief since he has not alleged nor demonstrated that he is in a class of individuals harmed by Director Armstrong's action. He has filed his Complaint and pursued this litigation as a member of society. A citizen or taxpayer, by reason of that status alone, does not have standing to challenge governmental action. "An interest, as a concerned citizen, in seeing that the government abides by the law does not confer standing." *Troutner v. Kempthorne*, 142 Idaho 389, 391, 128 P.3d 926, 928 (2006).

In addition to the foregoing, to satisfy the requirement of standing Arambarri was required to satisfy three additional requirements. First, he was required to allege an injury in fact. Second, he was required to demonstrate there was a fairly traceable causal connection between the claimed injury and the challenged conduct. Third, Arambarri was required to prove that there was a substantial likelihood that the judicial relief requested would have prevented or redressed the claimed injury. *Id.* 

Arambarri cannot satisfy any of the aforementioned three requirements since he was a non-classified, at-will employee who lost his employment. He thus is not in a position to claim that he was injured as a result of his termination. Second, Arambarri is unable to trace a causal connection between Director Armstrong's application of Idaho Code § 56-1002(3) and any

alleged injury. Third, Arambarri is unable to demonstrate that any alleged injury would be rectified through judicial relief. For instance, even if Director Armstrong were to be required to appoint four additional regional directors, it would be impossible to require Director Armstrong to reappoint any of the four individuals, including Arambarri, who had been at-will employees while serving as regional directors. In short, a ruling in Arambarri's favor would not redress the claimed injury. See *Thompson v. City of Lewiston*, 137 Idaho 473, 477, 50 P.3d 488, 492 (2002).

In light of the undisputed facts in this case, including Arambarri's status prior to termination as a non-classified, at-will employee, and including the fact that this is not a wrongful termination lawsuit, Arambarri should be treated as an ordinary citizen in this lawsuit as opposed to an individual with special standing or unique status. Arambarri is not disputing that he was a non-classified, at-will employee, and he is not disputing that Director Armstrong had the authority to terminate his appointment with the concurrence of the Board. Furthermore, he is not disputing that Director Armstrong terminated his appointment. Arambarri has conceded that he is merely arguing Director Armstrong should have kept seven regional directors in place at all times and the concurrence Director Armstrong received from the Board for the elimination of four of those positions was insufficient. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 19, Ll. 7-10; p. 20, Ll. 9-11; p. 23, Ll. 3-6). As such, in light of Arambarri's basis for this lawsuit, he lacks standing.

### C. ARAMBARRI'S APPEAL SHOULD BE VACATED DUE TO MOOTNESS AND THE ABSENCE OF REDRESSABILITY.

Related to Arambarri's lack of standing is mootness and the absence of redressability in this case. "A case is moot if it presents no justiciable controversy and a judicial determination will have no practical effect upon the outcome." *Euclid Ave. Trust v. City of Boise*, 146 Idaho

306, 310, 193 P.3d 853, 857 (2008). "Mootness . . . applies when a favorable judicial decision would not result in any relief. This Court may only review cases in which a judicial determination will have a practical effect on the outcome." *Fenn v. Noah*, 142 Idaho 775, 779, 133 P.3d 1240, 1244 (2006). With respect to redressability, a plaintiff must prove that there is a substantial likelihood that the judicial relief requested will prevent or redress the claimed injury. *Troutner v. Kempthorne*, 142 Idaho 389, 391, 128 P.3d 926, 928 (2006).

As previously indicated, a ruling in Arambarri's favor would not redress the claimed injury. Such a ruling would simply have no practical effect upon the outcome. As a former atwill employee, Arambarri is not in a position to force Director Armstrong to reappoint him as a regional director, regardless of this Court's findings. If judicial action were to require Director Armstrong to re-establish the positions of four additional regional directors, such regional directors would nevertheless be chosen by Director Armstrong and would serve at the pleasure of Director Armstrong, in accordance with Idaho Code § 56-1002(3). Consequently, it would be impossible to force Director Armstrong to reappoint Arambarri, since Arambarri had been at-will employee while serving as regional director, and Arambarri has not alleged that he was terminated wrongfully. See *Thompson v. City of Lewiston*, 137 Idaho 473, 477, 50 P.3d 488, 492 (2002).

The issue of redressability was addressed in *Knox v. State ex rel. Otter*, 148 Idaho 324, 336-37, 223 P.3d 266, 278-79 (2009). In *Knox*, the plaintiffs alleged that if the Idaho statutes permitting video gaming machines at the Fort Hall Indian Reservation were deemed unconstitutional pursuant to their declaratory judgment action, the machines would be removed from the casino and their video gaming addiction would be redressed. *Id.* at 336, 223 P.3d at

278. This Court disagreed and held that a favorable judgment for the plaintiffs would not ensure that the addictive gaming machines would be removed from the casino, and the Court also held that the Court would not be able to ensure that the plaintiffs' harms would be redressed. *Id.* at 336-37, 223 P.3d at 278-79. Similarly, with respect to Arambarri's situation, even if this Court were to interpret Idaho Code § 56-1002(3) as requiring a specific number of distinct regional directors, this Court is not in a position to force Director Armstrong to re-appoint Arambarri as regional director, since Arambarri was a non-classified, at-will employee.

In light of the outcome for Arambarri being unaffected by any judicial determination in this case, this appeal should be vacated in light of mootness and the absence of redressability.

## D. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE AS TO ANY MATERIAL FACT AND THAT DIRECTOR ARMSTRONG WAS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

As previously discussed, it is appropriate to uphold the district court's order and dismiss Arambarri's appeal due to his lack of standing, as well as mootness and the lack of redressability. However, if this Court reaches the merits underlying this case concerning whether summary judgment is appropriate, Director Armstrong respectfully requests that this Court uphold the district court's order.

Summary judgment is appropriate in this case because the pleadings and affidavits "show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and that Director Armstrong "is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). Furthermore, the lack of material disputed facts case makes this case almost entirely a question of law, making a trial unnecessary and inappropriate.

The district court correctly emphasized that there is no dispute that Arambarri was an at-will employee while serving as regional director and that he served at the pleasure of Director Armstrong with the concurrence of Board, pursuant to Idaho Code § 56-1002(3). (R. Vol. I, p. 171).

The district court was also correct in finding that Director Armstrong complied with this statute when he "presented his decision regarding the abolishment of the positions on May 21, 2009, and obtained the concurrence of the Board." (R. Vol. I, p. 172). As the district court noted, the affidavit of Director Armstrong as well as the affidavits of the members of the Board "indicate the Board concurred with the Director's decision regarding the elimination of the Plaintiff's position." (R. Vol. I, p. 24, para. 12; pp. 134-151; p. 172). The district court also observed that the authority of the Board is merely advisory under Idaho Code § 56-1005(10). (R. Vol. I, p. 171). Although Arambarri disagreed with this finding (Appellant's Brief, pp. 15-16), his argument was not supported by the facts or by the law. Furthermore, Arambarri's disagreement with the district court regarding the advisory role of the Board is not germane to this case.

Notwithstanding all of the undisputed evidence from Board members and from Director Armstrong clearly indicating that concurrence of the Board occurred (R. Vol. I, pp. 134-151 & p. 172), as well as the absence of any objections from Board members in the minutes of the Board's meeting on May 21, 2009 (R. Vol. I, p. 56), Arambarri argues in Appellant's Brief that concurrence did not occur because it did not occur in some specific way. (Appellant's Brief, pp. 17-18). The existence of concurrence in this case cannot be disputed in light of the contents of the aforementioned affidavits from members of the Board and from Director Armstrong, as well

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